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The Tenth Board of Trustees (BOT) Session of the International 
Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) was held in Davao City, Philippines 
on 2 September 2016, a day after the “International Symposium on 
Tropical Fruits: Towards Sustainable Tropical Fruit Production and 
Global Food Security”. It was attended by 26 delegates from 11 
countries, including a representative from the Food and Agriculture 
Organization of the United Nations (FAO), observers from African 
Asian Rural Development Organization (AARDO), Inter-American 
Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), Malaysian Pineapple 
Industry Board (MPIB), The Global Horticulture Initiative (GlobalHort), 
and TFNet Secretariat. The complete list of attendees is in Annex 1.

Introduction

Agenda
item 1

Opening Address of Chairperson

The TFNet Chief Executive Officer Dr. Mohd. Desa Haji Hassim 
welcomed the delegates and introduced His Excellency Mohd 
Sallehhuddin bin Hassan, Deputy Secretary General for Planning, 
Ministry of Agriculture Malaysia, as the Chairperson for the meeting. 
Afterwards, he introduced Director Jennifer Remoquillo, National 
Program Coordinator for the Philippine High Value Crops 
Development Program of the Department of Agriculture, as the 
Vice-Chairperson.  

HE Mohd Sallehhuddin welcomed the delegates to Davao City and 
thanked the organizers and participants for sucessfully holding the 
“International Symposium on Tropical Fruits: Towards Sustainable 
Tropical Fruit Production and Global Food Security.”

He then encouraged the delegates to actively participate in the 
discussions, citing the impotance of the BOT’s guidance towards the 
success of TFNet’s programmes. 

Adoption of Provisional Agenda

The provisional agenda (Annex 2) was adopted by the GA without 
any amendments.

Agenda
item 2
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Agenda
item 3

Adoption of the 6th Session of the TFNet General Assembly 
Report held in Sri Lanka

The Report of the General Assembly meeting held on 5-6 August 2016 in 
Davao City was adopted by the Board of Trustees. 

Agenda
item 4

TFNet Progress Report (2015 – 2016)

TFNet CEO Dr. Mohd Desa Haji Hassim presented the progress report for 
2015-2016. The full report can be found in Annex 3.

The presentation was divided intro three parts: 1) Membership Status,      
2) Finances, and 3) Projects and Activities. 

Membership 

Dr. Desa reported that for 2015-2016, TFNet country membership remains 
at 14. Associate members grew from 18 in 2015 to 19 in 2016, while 
ordinary members grew from 206 in 2015 to 220 in 2016 (Table 1).

Table 1: Membership Status from 2015 - 2016
Membership 

Category 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Country 12 13 14 14 14
Associate 16 16 17 18 19
Ordinary 122 134 198 206 220
Total 150 163 229 238 253

TFNet continues to lobby for memberships through conferences, 
workshops, meetings and visits to various public and private agencies in 
countries such as Laos, Thailand, Myamar, and Cambodia. Although there 
is much interest, it is taking time. Ordinary Memberships are also included 
as part of a package for participants in symposiums.

Discussion on Membership

i.  Malaysia representative HE Mohd Sallehhuddin bin Hassan encouraged 
the Board of Trustees to assist the TFNet Secretariat in inviting more 
members into the network. He suggested to start by geting in touch 
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with ASEAN Ministerial Meeting on Agriculture and Forestry (AMAF). 
Morever, targets should be set for country and associate members. 

ii.  Expert member Yacob Ahmad informed the BOT that TFNet have 
had meetings with the AMAF in 2008 to no avail but agrees with 
the suggestion from HE Sallehhuddin. He further suggested for the 
Secretariat to regularly report on membership. 

iii. Sri Lanka representative Dr. HMS Heenkenda recommended to  
develop a programme to promote membership, including advertising, 
international forums, and transparency of actions taken. Programmes 
should be aligned with TFNet’s objectives.

iv. Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA) 
representative Frank Lam called for further cooperation with TFNet. 
IICA has 34 member countries from Latin American and the Caribbean. 
He invited the TFNet CEO to join the Caribbean Week of Agriculture in 
the Cayman Islands to meet with agriculture ministers from the region. 

v. Former TFNet CEO Khairuddin Mohd Tahir added that TFNet should also 
entice the private sector to join the network. He added that while it is 
difficult to quantify the benefits of joining, the strong expert pool that  
TFNet provides is invaluable.

Finance

Table 2: Income and expenditure for 2014-2015
Income and expenditure statement 

(2014-2015)
2014
(USD)

2015
(USD)

Income
Consultancy and professional fees
Discount received
Interest from foreign account
Interest received and receivables
Membership and registration fees
Miscellaneous income
Seminar and exhibition

Total

34,623
163

1,840
17,281

597
-

6,138
60,641

7,652
121

15,895
10,564
1,290
1,024

263
36,809

Expenditure
Administrative costs
Advertising and promotion
Auditor’s renumeration
Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment
Staff costs
Workshop and seminar
Travelling and accommodation

Total

30,406
4,513
1,563
2,472

160,782
4,461

34,453
238,648

13,851
560

1,571
2,737

145,350
-

37,926
201,995

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (178,007) (165,186)
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Income from consultancy and professional fees for the year 2015 dropped 
significantly from USD 34,623 in year 2014 to USD 7,652 in year 2015.
Membership fees on the other hand, increased slightly from USD 597 in 
year 2014 to USD 1,290 where TFNet received one member for Associate 
membership and 14 members for Ordinary membership. Income from 
seminar and/or exhibition also dropped significantly from USD 6,138 to 
USD 263, a decrease of 96%. Total income dropped 39% from USD 60,641 
in year 2014 to USD 36,809 in year 2015.

Major expense for the year 2015 though slightly decreased about 10% 
in year 2015, were derived from staff costs, mainly on salary, statutory 
contributions and travelling allowances.  Administrative costs decreased 
54% in year 2015 from USD 30,406 to USD 13,851. Travelling and 
accommodation increased about 10% in year 2015. Total expenditures for 
the year 2015 decreased only 15% from USD 238,648 in year 2014 to USD 
201,995. Full details on the financial situation of TFNet can be found in the 
audit report (Annex 4).

Discussion on Finance

i.  Malaysia representative HE Mohd Sallehhuddin bin Hassan assured 
that as the host country, his government will be provided an annual 
contribution of RM 200,000 (USD 47,000).

Projects and Activities

TFNet CEO Dr. Mohd Desa Haji Hassim reported on the progress towards 
the Mid-Term Action Plan (2015-2017) based on the objectives stipulated 
in the TFNet Constitution and the Strategic Plan (2015-2020) (Annex 5), 
which focused on the following areas:

1.  Goal: TFNet as a primary, reliable and beneficial knowledge base 
on tropical fruits for dissemination to members and stakeholders.

 Objective: To systematically collect, analyse, document and disseminate 
information on production, processing, marketing, consumption and 
international trade of tropical fruits.

 Strategies: TFNet will
a. Review, populate and expand current TFNet databases (Tropical Fruit 

Information, Newsfeed, TFNet Stats).
b. Improve dissemination of data and information.
c. Commercialize relevant output from data available in TFNet databases.
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 Discussion on Projects and Activities - Goal 1

i. Malaysia representative HE Mohd Sallehhuddin bin Hassan 
commented that TFNet should not charge for information, as it 
could help foster network growth. 

Activities Target Output 
(2015-2016)

Progress (2016)

Activity 1: Review, edit, 
populate and expand 
current TFNet Fruit 
Information database

Information on 
agronomy for all 
major, minor, selected 
underutilised tropical 
fruits

The website has been updated - the look 
and information, background, new mission 
and core business, organisational structure. 
5 Newsfeed issues have been published.

Information on the old tropical fruit 
database (in java) has been transferred to 
the new database (wordpress)

Report on the nutritional content is in the 
final stages, with the report being drafted 
with the help of Dr. Amin, UPM, Malaysia. 

Activity 2: Include 
information on latest 
research findings and 
market information.

Research findings 
in the various fields 
including production, 
nutrition and good 
cultural practices, 
latest market studies 
and price trends will 
be collected and
collated.

The latest research presented in the 
ISTF2016 in Davao, Philippines will be 
included in the database.

Activity 3: Expand 
the circulation of 
information to 
include more African 
and Latin American 
Countries by utilizing 
TFNet partners and 
members.

Translated website 
and newsfeed articles 
in multilingual - 
Spanish, French and 
Chinese.

Translation process has not commenced.

Activity 4:
Commercialise 
selected information. 

Charge users to 
access information 
on selected crops 
and articles for 
commercial purposes.

Collating of essential information is in 
progress.

Every member encouraged to provide  
materials for commercial publication. 

Proposal to establish an International 
Tropical Fruits Journal is in progress.

Table 3.1: Progress of activities: Goal 1
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Activities Target Output 
(2015-2016)

Progress (2016)

Activity 1: Establish 
collaborative 
initiatives with 
other networks.

At least 2 joint projects with 
partners either in capacity
building activities, workshops 
or training in topics to be
ascertained by partners and 
country are conducted.

There are series of discussion 
between TFNet and organizations 
: CIRDAP, AARDO, NIEW, Mekong 
Institute and AFMA, JICA, FAO, and 
BIOVERSITY have been executed to 
develop joint projects.

Activity 2: Propose 
and implement a 
project involving 
public-private 
partnership.

A project involving public and 
private sector developing
one fruit type from production 
to marketing in member 
countries.

Developing Saba Banana Products 
Value Chain: Work in progress: 
TFNet-Mardi-CFFRC with Kulim 
Group Malaysia.

ii. Expert member Yacob Ahmad suggested for the Newsfeed to be 
more consistent in its release.

2. Goal: Establishing joint collaborations to improve the global 
tropical fruit industry.

 Objective: To facilitate technical and economic cooperation in the 
tropical fruit sector in pursuance of sustainable production by 
strengthening of domestic markets, poverty eradication, food security 
and enhancing the knowledge of value addition and nutritive values of 
tropical fruits.

 Strategies: TFNet will:
a. Focus on projects utilizing the public-private partnership models to 

develop the industry in member countries.
b. Collaborate with other networks to initiate joint programs or projects 

to develop tropical fruits for member countries.

 Discussion on Projects and Activities - Goal 2

i. Expert member Hannah Jaenicke urged TFNet to join global trade 
exhibitions such as Fruit Logistica. If other member countries are 
attending such exhibitions, she suggests to organize an interim 
Board Meeting.

ii. Malaysia representative HE Mohd Sallehhuddin bin Hassan asked to 
clarify the terms and conditions when working with other parties.

Table 3.2: Progress of activities: Goal 2
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3.  Goal: TFNet as an internationally recognised network committed 
to improving the global trade of tropical fruits.

 Objectives: To facilitate the expansion of international trade of tropical 
fruits.

 Strategies: TFNet will:
a. Assess and analyse issues affecting global trade of tropical fruits.
b. Develop projects related to improved quality standards, food safety 

and SPS requirements.
c. Promote tropical fruits and their nutritional benefits through TFNet’s 

website and by encouraging participation in international trade 
expositions.

d. Use improved fruit cultivars and facilitate exchange of germplasm 
among members.

e. Evaluate the impact of international and regional agreements on 
production, processing, marketing, consumption and international 
trade of tropical fruits.

Activities Target Output 
(2015-2016)

Progress (2016)

Activity 1: Conduct a 
workshop for member 
countries to exchange 
information on issues that 
hinder market
access.

Workshop conducted 
on common issues 
that affect quality 
of tropical fruits 
and introduction of 
quality standards, 
food safety in 
member countries.

Issues to be discussed in the BOT 
meeting.

Activity 2: Organise 
market promotions in 
collaboration with exporters 
and importers aimed at 
enhancing consumer 
knowledge of the nutritional 
benefits of
tropical fruits.

Annual events 
organised to promote 
tropical fruits in 
importing countries, 
capitalizing on 
existing fruit expos.

TFNet will co-organize the 
international trade show Agri 
Malaysia 2016 to be held in Melacca 
on 22-24 September 2016. 

Proposal to participate in ASIA FRUIT 
LOGISTICA Exhibition and Conference 
Hong Kong 2017.

Joint promotion program will 
be organized with Fresh Plaza in 
Netherlands.

Activity 3: Exchange 
information on SPS 
requirements of important 
countries.

Updated information 
on SPS requirements 
available on the 
website.

Compiling information is in progress.

Table 3.3: Progress of activities: Goal 3
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Activity 4: Organise 
workshops and field study 
visits on improving quality 
of fruit production along the 
value chain using suitable 
cultivars.

One workshop 
and 1 study visits 
conducted, on using 
improved germplasm 
in various member 
Countries suitable 
to their climatic 
conditions.

Meetings on proposal to exchange 
MD2 Pineapple production 
technology and improve planting 
materials have been comments in 
May 2016 between Malaysia and the 
Philippines.

TFNet organized field visit for MPIB 
officer to Del Monte and Unifruitti 
Co. in Davao on 31 Aug – 1 Sept 
2016 

Activity 5:
Provide platform for country 
members to discuss issues 
on market access and trade, 
monitoring, evaluating the 
impact of international 
and regional agreements 
on production, processing, 
marketing.

One technical 
meeting conducted 
to discuss market 
access, trade 
through monitoring, 
evaluating the impact 
of international and
regional agreements 
on production, 
processing and 
marketing.

The meeting is being proposed to 
be held in February 2017 in Bangkok, 
Working together with AFMA and 
FAO-RAP

 Discussion on Projects and Activities - Goal 3

i. Sri Lanka representative H.M.S. Heenkenda commented that all TFNet 
activities were conducted in Malaysia and implored to organize more 
activities in other member countries. He suggested to communicate 
and work with experts in member countries to strengthen ties within 
the network.

ii. Fiji representative Shalendra Prasad suggested for TFNet to 
conduct more R&D to solve common tropical fruit issues towards 
sustainability. The suggestion was refuted by Australia representative 
Robert Williams because according to the TFNet constitution, TFNet 
does not conduct research but facilitates promotion, coordination 
and support of R&D activities.

4. Goal: TFNet to play a major role in transfer of technologies to 
improve productivity and quality of tropical fruits in member 
countries 

 
 Objective: To promote, coordinate and support the conservation 

and use of germplasm, research and development and transfer of 
technologies in production and postharvest handling and downstream 
processing for industrial use.
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Activities Target Output 
(2015-2016)

Progress (2016)

Activity 1: Research 
and development 
on new tropical 
fruit varieties 
that have high 
yield, disease 
resistant, easily 
marketable and 
are not genetically 
modified.

a. Collated information on 3 
new tropical fruit varieties or 
species from each member 
country which are popular 
and easily adaptable and 
marketable.

b. Collaborated with 
research centres in member/
non-member countries to 
determine best varieties to 
increase fruit production. One 
workshop conducted to assist 
countries to work on a tropical 
fruit each.

Work is in progress. A template on 
tropical fruit information, including 
commercial varieties in each member 
country, has been sent. Primary 
discussion has been done with 
BAPNET for Banana.

Primary discussion between 
Chantaburi Horticultural Research 
Center Thailand, Indonesian Center 
for Horticultural Research and 
University Putra Malaysia to Establish 
Asian Durian Research Network 
(ADRNET)

Activity 2: Propose 
and implement 
project on 
minimizing impact 
of diseases on 
specific fruit types.

a. Updated information on 
spread of pests and diseases 
on tropical fruits in 4 selected 
countries.
b. Simple manual/guidelines 
on prevention of 6 major
tropical fruit diseases 
developed.
c. Workshop on Banana 
Fusarium Wilt TR4 prevention 
methods conducted for 
banana producing countries 
that do not have the disease.

The strategic plan on mitigating 
Fusarium TR4 on banana is under 
construction. TFNet is working 
together with BAPNET member 
to develop specific activities with 
member countries, with support from 
FAO. The decision have been made 
during 10th BAPNET Meeting in 
Guangzhou

Activity 3:  
Exchange 
information on 
SPS requirements 
of important 
countries.

Updated information on SPS 
requirements available on the 
website.

Compiling information is in progress.

 Strategies: TFNet will:
a. Assess common issues affecting tropical fruits, including postharvest 

losses, pests and diseases incidences, lack of appropriate production 
technologies, poor quality produce and downstream products in 
member countries.

b. Source and share new research findings from country members.
c. Organise capacity building programs including workshops and 

symposium. 
d. Propose and implement projects related to improved productivity, 

better quality and enhancing market access for tropical fruits.

Table 3.4: Progress of activities: Goal 4
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Activity 4: Organise 
workshops and 
field study visits on 
improving quality 
of fruit production 
along the value 
chain using 
suitable cultivars.

One workshop and 1 study 
visits conducted, on using 
improved germplasm in 
various member Countries 
suitable to their climatic 
conditions.

Meetings on proposal to exchange 
MD2 Pineapple production 
technology and improve planting 
materials have been comments in 
May 2016 between Malaysia and the 
Philippines.

TFNet organized field visit for MPIB 
officer to Del Monte and Unifruitti 
Co. in Davao on 31 Aug – 1 Sept 
2016 

Activity 5:
Propose and 
implement 
projects on 
improving
production using 
good agricultural 
practices and 
postharvest losses 
on specific fruit 
types.

a. Carried out situational 
analysis of the Malaysian
tropical fruit industry.

b. Proposed and implemented 
good agricultural practices for 
selected tropical fruits in arid
environment.

‘Revitalising the Malaysian Tropical 
Fruit Industry:  Enhancing Linkages 
among Small-scale Producers and 
Other Stake Holders in the Value 
Chain” was conducted on 8-10 
August 2016. Participants include 
MOA Malaysia, its agencies, and the 
private sector.

Need to be confirmed with Arab 
member countries.

Activity 6: 
Capacity building 
on production 
and postharvest 
handling of 
tropical fruits in 
arid environment.

a. Four (4) Workshops 
organised together with 
partners AARDO and CIRDAP 
on selected topics.

b. Two (2) study tours and 1 
training on suitability of
selected tropical fruits carried 
out.

The primary discussion has been 
made between TFNet with AARDO 
and CIRDAP. No any decision 
concludes at the moment.

Activity 7: 
Introduce suitable 
tropical fruit 
species in the 
Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and the 
GCC countries.

Pilot project on introduction of 
tropical fruits in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia and the GCC 
countries carried out.

No progress is reported

 Discussion on Projects and Activities - Goal 4

i. Philippines representative Danilo Dannug raised concerns about 
plant variety protection (PVP) rights before proceeding with 
germplasm exchange activities.
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Activities Target Output 
(2015-2016)

Progress (2016)

Activity 1: Conduct 
workshop or training 
in member countries 
on new production 
technologies, 
processing, 
postharvest losses, 
good agricultural 
practices and 
improving biosecurity 
implementation.

6 workshops or 
training programmes 
in member countries 
conducted.

Need commitment from member countries 
to organize the workshops

Proposals :
i. Malaysia : Pineapple
ii. Indonesia : Durian/ Mangosteen 
iii. Vietnam : Dragon fruit
iv. Australia : Banana/Mango
v. Bangladesh : Jackfruit
vi. China : Citrus/Banana
vii. Philippines : Pineapple/Mango

ii. Australia representative Robert WIlliams reminded the BOT that 
the planting materials for the germplasm exchange should pass 
biosecurity certifications. Williams also inquired about the proposal 
to establish a durian institute, specifically any documentation or 
agreements with possible partners.

iii. Expert members Hannah Jaenicke and Yacob Ahmad both 
suggested for TFNet to link and cooperate with other international 
organizations and networks when developing projects. For 
interactions with different governments, Yacob explained that if a 
current administration might not be responsive then TFNet can try 
to work with the next administration.

5. Goal: Provide capacity building activities in member countries to 
improve knowledge and skills.

 Objective: To enhance human resource development in the tropical 
fruit sector.

 Strategies: TFNet will:
a. Carry out Training Needs Assessment (TNA) to prioritise and focus 

on training requirements on specific topics in all member countries/
regions.

b. Engage experts from member countries (priority) or others to be 
resource persons in the sessions.

c. Country members to contribute in financial support or in kind to 
conduct training or workshops.

Table 3.5: Progress of activities: Goal 5



13

Discussion on Projects and Activities - Goal 5

i. Sri Lanka representative H.M.S. Heenkenda said that the proposals 
in the third column are too vague. He explained that a detailed 
project proposal should be submitted to the respective government 
representatives. To help secure government funding, he explained 
that stakeholders must be diverse and should include the private 
sector to help stimulate the economy. Philippine representative 
Jennifer Remoquillo agreed with Sri Lanka and added that TFNet 
should look into the value chain of each fruit to identify the gaps that 
need to be addressed. Furthermore, Malaysia added that specific 
targets should be identified in the proposal to guide the projects.

 
ii. Expert member Yacob Ahmad commented on the presentation of 

the progress report, citing that each activity that was conducted 
should have 3-4 slides that includes the background, objectives, 
outcomes, and pictures.

6. Goal: Expansion of current members to include countries in Latin 
American and the Caribbean

 Objective: To expand membership of TFNet to include Europe, Latin 
American and Caribbean countries, more African and Asian countries, 
as well as private entities and individuals.

Strategies: TFNet will:
a. Collaborate with other networks and partners.
b. Engage the assistance of other country and associate members.
c. Invite potential members to attend events organised by TFNet.
d. Attend events organised by potential country members and networks 

to explain the benefits of joining TFNet.

Activities Target Output 
(2015-2016)

Progress (2016)

Activity 1: Re-establish 
contact with IICA, participate 
in their annual meeting and 
promote TFNet membership.

At least 5 Latin American 
tropical fruit producing
Countries targeted as potential 
country member. Potential list – 
Costa Rica, Mexico, Dominican 
Republic, Brazil, Madagascar.

There has been a talk with 
prospective organizations 
in Brazil (EMBRAPA), 
Costa Rica (CORBANA), 
Dominican Republic., and 
IICA

Activity 2: The Secretariat 
to continue efforts to invite 
Asian and African countries 
with assistance from current 
country members, including
consuming countries.

Targeted five new country 
members from Europe, Africa 
and Asia. Potential list – 
Thailand, Cambodia, Myanmar, 
Laos, Madagascar, Japan, Korea, 
Germany, and the Netherlands.

After discussions, 
official invitations have 
been sent to Thailand, 
Myanmar and Laos. 

Table 3.6: Progress of activities: Goal 6



14

 Discussion on Projects and Activities - Goal 6

i. IICA representative Frank Lam suggested for TFNet to submit a 
proposal for the IICA competitive fund to finance projects and 
activities in Latin America and the Caribbean. According to Lam, 
conducting projects in the region could drive interest for countries, 
organizations, businesses, and experts to join TFNet. Finally, he 
invited the TFNet CEO to participate in the upcoming Caribbean 
Week of Agriculture. For future partnerships, Lam noticed that there 
is no profile of the target institutions for collaboration.

ii. Sri Lanka representative H.M.S. Heenkenda suggested for TFNet to 
work with former CEOs because of their connections and expertise.

Events and Activities Attended by the CEO

During 2015-2016, the TFNet CEO was invited to participate in various 
meetings, conferences, symposiums, and workshops in six countries. The 
CEO actively engaged in various roles such as paper presenter, facilitator, 
resource person, and participant. A full list of these activities are included 
in the Progress Report (2015-2016) (Annex 3).

Discussion on Events and Activities Attended by the CEO

i.  Malaysia representative HE Mohd Sallehhuddin bin Hassan commended 
the CEO for his active participation in the events that were mentioned. 
However, the board members expressed concern about the lack of 
documentation pertaining to the said activities.

Proposed budget (2016-2018)

Table 4: Proposed budget (2016-2018)

Income 2016
(USD)

2017
(USD)

2018
(USD)

Income
Consultancy and professional fees
Other services (study tours, etc)
Membership and registration fees
Seminar and exhibition
Grants

Total

200,000
50,000
13,500
12,500

200,000
476,000

250,000
60,000
19,000
15,000

200,000
544,000

300,000
70,000

19,5004
17,500

200,000
607,000

Expenditure
Information dissemination
Establishing joint collaborations
Networking
Tehnology transfer
Capacity building
Membership drive
Secretariat

Total

50,000
50,000
37,500
37,500
50,000
37,500

175,000
437,500

50,000
62,500
50,000
62,500
62,500
42,500

187,500
517,500

50,000
75,000

62,5000
75,000
75,000
47,500

200,000
585,000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 38,500 26,500 22,000
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Discussion on proposed budget

i. Australia representative Robert Williams commented that the proposed 
budget does not correspond with the items detailed in the strategic plan. 
Moreover, the numbers for 2016 are too ambitious. He encouraged the 
BOT to play a more active role in narrowing down budget and setting 
priority projects.

ii. Sri Lanka representative H.M.S. Heenkenda suggested to continue 
developing project proposals that could help pay for the administration 
cost of TFNet. Moreover, the BOT should be informed on the current 
proposals that are being developed to offer more guidance.

iii. Expert member Hannah Jaenicke explained that the proposed budget 
should be realistic and the line items should be comparable to previous 
years. This would improve transparency and will help measure where 
the expenses go.

Internal Audit Report

The internal audit was conducted on 14-15 August 2016 in the TFNet 
Headquarters in Malaysia by Australia Representative Mr. Bob Williams 
and Sudan Representative Dr. Baldreldin Elhassan. The full internal audit 
report can be found in Annex 6.

The auditors reviewed the Strategic Plan 2015-2020 that was approved 
by the General Assembly in Sri Lanka and subsequently published and 
distributed to all members. A mid-term plan 2015-2017 with a budget 
per activity was also included at the back of the Strategic Plan.  It was this 
document that the Audit Committee benchmarked the activities against 
of the Secretariat.

It was strongly recommended that the CEO maintain linkages with the 
Malaysia Government and secure financial support continuing the 
relevance and sustainability of the network. For the fourth year in a row, 
no funds have been received from the Malaysian Ministry of Agriculture. 
There has also been no revenue from workshops from 2015-2016. At 
the General Assembly in Sri Lanka, it was recommended that the annual 
membership fees be based at $2000. At the time of the audit only two 
countries had paid their subscriptions. The current major expenditure is 
salaries (RM 401,333) and travel costs (RM 159,459). Based on the current 
expenditure against the reserves, TFNet has enough funds to last for 14 
months. The auditors recommend that if Malaysia continue to withhold 
the alloted funds to sustain the network, it might be an option to consider 
alternative countries who are willing to provide funds and host TFNet.

Agenda
item 5
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The difficulty in collecting the annual membership fee may be remedied 
by implementing more projects and conducting more programmes in 
member countries. A robust number of activities can justify the membership 
fee to the government’s budget committee. The Secretariat, led by the 
CEO, should be more persistent in reminding the members about the fees.

Irrespective of the funding becoming available, the auditors recommend 
that the BOT should have a more active role in providing support to the 
Secretariat.  It is recommended that the CEO should provide a report each 
quarter to a subcommittee of the BOT.  Additionally, corporate issues such 
as the financial status of the network should included in the report.

With regards to the travel expenditure, the auditors noted that the trips 
made by the CEO are important to build networks and relationships. 
However, there has been no evidence in outcomes such as increased 
membership, consultancies and workshops, and capacity building 
activities. Only one workshop was held from August 2015 - July 2016. 

A recommendation by the audit committee in 2014 was to conduct a risk 
assessment for each activity to avoid exposing TFNet. The CEO needs 
to take greater management of the finances and support his CFO. The 
implementation of a corporate risk register, specifically for projects 
and consultancies, in the project contract documentation needs to be 
implemented. 

For the staff, the auditors recommended to hire a Technical Officer and a 
Project Officer to attract consultancies, develop workshops, and training 
programs.

Discussion on the Internal Audit Report

i. Both the representatives of the Philippines and Sri Lanka requested 
for an endorsement or letter of request that about the membership 
fee that they will submit to their government. Expert member Yacob 
Ahmad suggested that the endorsement letter should be signed by the 
Chairperson of TFNet.

ii. Sri Lanka commented on the travel costs and suggested that they should 
be minimized and ideally be justified as an important project-reltated 
expenses. He went on to suggest whether the BOT could choose the 
projects that TFNet should implement.

iii. Expert member Hannah Jaenicke commented on how activities were 
reported. Activities should not just be mentioned in passing and details 
should be provided that justify their implementation.
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Constitutional Amendments

An amendment to Article 6 of the constitution was proposed based on 
several requests from individual members to offer lifetime membership 
for experts.

Current clause:

Article 6: Membership

6.1. Ordinary members 

There shall be three types of members of TFNet:
iii. Ordinary Members
 Ordinary membership is open to any individual or non-profit 

organisation that can contribute positively to the objectives and 
operations of TFNet.

 Ordinary members shall have no voting rights in the General Assembly.
 Annual membership fees shall be at USD50.00

Proposed Amendment:

Article 6: Membership

6.1. Ordinary members 

There shall be three types of members of TFNet:
iii. Ordinary Members
 Ordinary membership is open to any individual or non-profit 

organisation or private sector that can contribute positively to the 
objectives and operations of TFNet.

 Ordinary members shall have no voting rights in the General Assembly.
 Annual membership fees shall be at USD50.00
 Lifetime membership fees shall be at USD50.00

Discussion on Proposed Constitutional Amendments

i. African - Asian Rural Development Organisation representative Wassfi 
Hassan El Sreihin commented that USD 50.00 is too low for a lifetime 
membership. 

ii. Expert member Hannah Jaenicke added that current ordinary members 
of TFNet includes businesses, associations, institutions, and individuals. 
She suggested that a lifetime membership fee should only be available 
for individuals and experts. 

Agenda
item 6
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iii. Several members of the BOT did not agree with the suggestions because 
they believed that it would be counter-intuitive to implement a lifetime 
membership fee when TFNet has a problem with its finances.

Challenges of the Tropical Fruit Industry in Member Countries

Representatives of TFNet country members were asked to provide 
information on the most pressing issues faced by the tropical fruit industry. 
Below is a table of the main issues and challenges faced by each country. 
More detailed tables for each challenge can be found in Annex 7.

Country Pressing Issues and challenges
Bangladesh - Lack of quality planting materials

- Lack of Research and Development
- Poor marketing and postharvest management
- Unorganized production technology
- Slow value chain development
- Unfair prices for smallholders
- Phytosanitary issues for export
- Poor nutrional awareness

Fiji - Diseases, specifically Fusarium Wilt for banana
- Lack of quality planting materials for papaya
- Need for value addition
- Poor postharvest handling
- Poor R&D for varietal improvement

Philippines - Cannot meet certain SPS requirements for export
- Pest quaratine
- Lack of market access
- Presence of dibilitating pest and diseases
- Policy issues

Discussions on the Challenges

i. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) 
representative Manitra Rakotoarisoa suggested for TFNet to analyze 
the tropical fruit programmes being implemented by country members 
and develop projects that complement their needs. Addressing the 
pressing needs of country members can also help secure FAO’s support.

 Other ways to collaborate with FAO is through multi-country projects 
such as tree planting activities and hosting an Intergovernmental Group 
(IGG) on Bananas and Tropical Fruits session. This is very timely as the 
last IGG meeting was held in Yaoundé, Cameroon on 3-5 May 2011.

Agenda
item 7
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 Rakotoarisoa also suggested to conduct an impact assessment 
of the research presented during TFNet symposiums. Finally, with 
the challenges of implementing measures that ensure food safety, 
he suggested to conduct a study on the cost of compliance on the 
minimum residue limits (MRL) in tropical fruits.

ii. The lack of market information was a common issue among country 
members. IICA representative Frank Lam suggested to develop a 
collaborative project on the the prices of fruits around the region, 
including the price of value added products. TFNet can start with a 
few countries and expand in the future. Australia representative Robert 
Williams explained that certain cities regularly publish market price 
information like Sydney, Melbourne, and Brisbane.

 Former TFNet CEO Khairuddin Mohd Tahir explained that during the 
early days of TFNet, they tried to develop a “price watch” system but it 
was too expensive to come up with daily prices. A less regular system 
is more feasible by regularly collecting data from national databases, 
especially for consuming countries.

Possible Projects with Country and Associate Members

After the discussions on country issues, the representatives were 
encouraged to recommend topics that could be given priority, while 
considering the current resources of the network.

i. 1 Million Fruit Tree Planting Campaign (1-MFT)
 Representatives from Malaysia, Fiji, and the Philippines agreed to the 

development 1-MFT. However, the BOT recommended to develop 
a proposal with feasible objectives, guidelines, and a timeline. They 
suggested to include a variety of fruit trees in the campaign, as well 
as cultivation after the trees were planted. The FAO representative 
expressed his support for the campaign. Furthermore, Sri Lanka is 
offered to link 1-MFT with its ongoing project to plant 3 million trees. 
Meanwhile, Myanmar representative Sai Phyo Lywnn Oo pledged to 
meet with fruit producer associations and the Department of Agriculture 
about bringing 1-MFT to his country. AARDO representative Wassfi 
Hassan El Sreihin also suggested to integrate the campaign with their 
the self-reliant villages programme in Sudan. 

ii. Global Programme on Banana Fusarium Wilt
 Banana Research Network for Asia and the Pacific (BAPNET) 

representative Agustin Molina informed the BOT that TFNet and 
BAPNET are developing projects based on the global strategy for TR4. 
The capacity building programmes will focus on prevention and will be 
incorporated in the TFNet website, newsfeed, and social media.

Agenda
item 8
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iii. Fruit Production and Climate Change
 Sri Lanka representative H.M.S. Heenkenda expressed his concern with 

the climate change in agriculture. He proposed for TFNet to conduct a 
study on the effects of climate change to tropical fruit production.

iv. Innovative Food Processing
 Expert member Hannah Jaenicke suggested to submit a proposal 

the German Federal Office for Agriculture and Food on “Innovative 
approaches to process local food in Sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast 
Asia.”

vi. Minimally Processed Fruits
 Australia representative Robert Williams mentioned that a project on 

minimal processing of jackfruit in Philippines can be expanded to other  
member countries.

vii. Breadfruit Production and Processing
 Fiji representative Shalendra Prasad suggested to develop programmes 

on breadfruit. As a possible source of gluten-free starch, breadfruit 
can have an excellent export potential. Other members of the board 
suggested to include breadfruit in 1-MFT.

viii. Workshop in Latin America
 IICA representative Frank Lam proposed to conduct a regional workshop 

in Latin Americaor the Caribbean. The proposal can be presented to 
IICA for funding. While language might be an issue, TFNet can start 
with the English-speaking countries in the Caribbean before inviting 
countries that speak Spanish or Portuguese.

Bureau officer reports

In terms of agronomy practices, most of the readily available tropical 
information were written in the 1950s-1970s. Most advancements in 
different countries but have not been properly reported. The bulk of tropical 
fruit information needed to improve the knowledge base remain on the 
local level: national agriculture ministries and agencies, the academe, and 
the private sector. 

In an effort to consolidate local level information in TFNet member 
countries, bureau officers were asked to accomplish a questionnaire 
(Annex 8) with the following information:

1. Commercial tropical fruits and cultivars
2. Statistics

a. Production: Volume (tonnes), planting area (ha)

Agenda
item 9
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b. Trade: Import and export volume (tonnes) and prices (USD)
c. Prices: Ex-farm, Wholesale, and retail prices (USD)

3. Nutritional information per cultivar
4. Harvest cycles
5. Varietal improvement (breeding and biotechnology)
6. Basic Agronomy (propagation, cultivation, flowering, fruiting)
7. Pest and diseases
8. Postharvest 
9. Product development and utilization
10. Policies 
11. List of experts
12. List of fruit traders

Discussion on Bureau officer reports

i.  During the meeting, only Malaysia, Bangladesh, and Vietnam were able 
to complete the quiestionnaire. Other countries asked for an extension. 
The BOT agreed that the questionnaire would take a huge amout of 
work to complete and suggested that TFNet should allocate funds for 
information gathering. 

ii. Other members suggested to simplify the template and choose basic 
information that are easier to gather.

iii. Some members are also concerned about what the data will be used 
for and called for transparency.

Other Matters

1. Venue of the Next Board of Trustees Meeting and Symposium

 Based on the General Assembly’s decision in Sri Lanka, the BOT agreed 
to conduct the 2017 session in Fiji.

2. Endorsement of New Members
 
 All of the new members were endorsed by the Board. A full list of new 

members is available in Annex 9.

3. Quarterly Reports
 
 Australia Representative Rober Williams drafted the template for the 

quarterly report (Annex 10) to be reviewed by the committee made 
up of expert member Yacob Ahmad, Fiji representative Shalendra 
Prasad, Sri Lanka representative H.M.S. Heenkenda, and Malaysia 

Agenda
item 10
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representative  Sallehhuddin bin Hassan. The report will be submitted 
to the Chairperson and the rest of the BOT.

4. Recognition for Past Members of the Board

 The board agreed to recognize the contributions of its former members, 
especially Mr. Kaison Chang who has been instrumental to the inception 
of TFNet. Retiring members should also be honored.

Closing Remarks

As the Chairpersion of the 10th Board of Trustees Session of the 
International Tropical Fruits Network, Malaysia representative Sallehhuddin 
bin Hassan gave his warmest appreciation to all the members for their 
active participation during the discussion. He hopes that through the 
BOT’s guidance, TFNet will have a fruitful future. 

Agenda
item 11
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Annex 1
List of delegates and observers

Board of Trustees

1. Mr. Mohd. Sallehhuddin Hassan - Chairperson
 Deputy Secretary General (D)
 Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-based Industry
 Malaysia

2. Ms. Jennifer E. Remoquillo - Country Host
 Assistant Director for HVCDP      
 Bureau of Plant Industry, Philippines

3. Mr. Manik Chandra Karmoker -Vice Chairperson
 Assistant Seed Technologiest 2
 Ministry of Agriculture, Bangladesh

4. Mr. Manitra A. Rakotoarisoa - FAO
 Economist (Trade), Trade and Markets Division
 Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), Rome, Italy

5. Dr. Mohd. Desa Hj Hassim     - 
Secretary, Chief Executive Officer

 International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet)  

6. H.E. Wassfi Hassan El-Sreihin - Associate Member
 Secretary General
 African – Asian Rural Development Organization 
 (AARDO), New Delhi, India

7. Mr. Felix Miller - Associate Member
 Chief Corporate Services
 Crops for the Future Research Center (CFFRC)  
 Malaysia

8. Dr. Hannah Jaenicke - Expert Member
 Ag. Executive Secretary
 Globalhort, Germany
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9. Mr. Yacob Ahmad - Expert Member
 Malaysia

10. Mr. Bob C. Williams
 Director, Bureau of Plant Industry
 Northern Territory, Australia

11. Mr. Shalendra Prasad
 Principal Research Officer
 Ministry of Agriculture, Fiji

12. Dr. HMS Heenkenda
 Additional Secretary (Agri Technology)   
 Ministry of Agriculture, Sri Lanka

Observers

13.Mr. Danilo T. Dannug      
 BPI, Philippines

14.Ms. Florence C. Ginibun
 Senior Assistant Director
 Strategic Planning & International Section
 Dept of Agriculture, Malaysia

15.Hon. Abdullah Zawawi Tahir     - 
Observer

 Consul General of Malaysia
 Davao, Philippines

16.Mr. Mohd. Khairuddin Md. Tahir
 Malaysia

17. Mr. Frank Lam
 Representative, IICA
 Dominican Republic      - 

Observer

18. Mr. Sai Phyo Lwin Oo
 SPSH, Myanmar

19. Mr. Sahdan Salim
 Director General, MPIB
 Malaysia
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20. Mr. Caesar Galvan      - 
Observer

 FAO’s Representative
 Philippines

21. Ms. Sharifah Azzuwani Syed Intan    -  
Observer

 Agriculture Officer, Department of Agriculture
 Malaysia

22. Mr. Sehawi Omar
 BPI, Philippines

Provisional Agenda

Wednesday, 5 August 2015
Activities Agenda Items

09.00 Agenda item 1 Introduction by TFNet Chief Executive Officer
Welcome address by Chairperson, 
His Excellency Mohd Sallehhuddin Hassan,  
Deputy Secretary General of Ministry of 
Agriculture and Agro-based Industry, Malaysia

Agenda Item 2 Adoption of the Provisional Agenda
Agenda Item 3 Adoption of 6th Session of the TFNet General 

Assembly 
Agenda Item 4 TFNet Progress Report 2015-2016

- Action taken from 9th Session and Audit  
Report
- Activities: projects, members, website
- Collaboration with other networks
- Finance and Administration

10.00 Snack break
10.30 Agenda Item 5 Report by TFNet Internal Auditors

Agenda Item 6 Constitutional Amendments
Agenda Item 7 Discussion on issues in the tropical fruit industry

12.00 Lunch break
13.30 Agenda Item 8 Discussion on Possible Projects with Country and 

Associate Members
Agenda Item 9 Presentation of Bureau Officer Reports
Agenda Item 10 Other Matters 

- Endorsement of New Members
- Venue of next BOT Meeting 2017
- Others

16.30 Agenda Item 11 Closing Remarks by the Chairperson

Annex 2
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Annex 3
TFNet PROGRESS REPORT (2015-2016)

1. INTRODUCTION

This report covers the activities of the network from July 2015 to August 
2016. Since the last General Assembly and BOT held in Sri Lanka in 2015,  
TFNet based its activities on the  new and improved strategic plan 2015-
2020 to address food and nutritional security through information and 
knowledge sharing, strengthening value chains, enhancing markets, 
increasing profitability of farming enterprises and promoting balanced 
nutrition for all. 

TFNet has adopted 7 of the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals which focus on poverty and hunger eradication, provide 
employment, promote inclusive and sustainable technologies, production 
and revitalizing global partnerships. Elements of these goals have been 
included in TFNet’s activities. 

2. THE OBJECTIVES

During the period 2015 – 2016, TFNet had embarked on activities in 
line with its following objectives:

Objective 1: To systematically collect, analyse, document and disseminate 
information on production, processing, marketing, consumption and 
international trade of tropical fruits to all members.

Objective 2: To facilitate technical and economic cooperation in the tropical 
fruit sector in pursuance of sustainable production by strengthening of 
domestic and international markets, poverty eradication, food security 
and enhancing the knowledge of value addition and nutritive values of 
tropical fruits.

Objective 3: To facilitate the expansion of international trade of tropical 
fruits.

Objective 4: To promote, coordinate, support the conservation and use of 
germplasme, research and development and transfer of technologies 
in production, postharvest handling and downstream processing for 
industrial use.

Objective 5: To enhance human resource development in the tropical fruit 
sector.

Objective 6: To expand membership of TFNet to include Caribbean 
countries, Europe, Latin America, more African and Asian countries, as 
well as private entities and individuals.
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3. TFNet Membership

During the report period, TFNet country membership remains at 14. 
Associate members grew from 18 in 2015 to 19 in 2016, while ordinary 
members grew from 206 in 2015 to 220 in 2016 (Table 1).

Table 1: Membership Status from 2015 - 2016
Membership 

Category 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Country 12 13 14 14 14
Associate 16 16 17 18 19
Ordinary 122 134 198 206 220
Total 150 163 229 238 253

TFNet has continued to lobby for memberships during the last year 
through conferences, workshops, meetings and visits to various public 
and private agencies. This includes Laos and Thailand. Communication 
has been established with Myamar and Cambodia. Although there is 
much interest, it is taking time. 

4. Financial Implication and Sustainability

Financial report for the year ending 31st December 2015 is shown in the 
table below with year 2014 as a comparison. 

Table 2: Income and expenditure for 2014-2015
Income and expenditure statement 

(2014-2015)
2014
(USD)

2015
(USD)

Income
Consultancy and professional fees
Discount received
Interest from foreign account
Interest received and receivables
Membership and registration fees
Miscellaneous income
Seminar and exhibition

Total

34,623
163

1,840
17,281

597
-

6,138
60,641

7,652
121

15,895
10,564
1,290
1,024

263
36,809

Expenditure
Administrative costs
Advertising and promotion
Auditor’s renumeration
Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment
Staff costs
Workshop and seminar
Travelling and accommodation

Total

30,406
4,513
1,563
2,472

160,782
4,461

34,453
238,648

13,851
560

1,571
2,737

145,350
-

37,926
201,995

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (178,007) (165,186)
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5.   Capacity development activities

This is an important component of TFNet’s activities wherein they are mainly 
in the form of symposiums, workshops, seminars and study tours. During 
2015-2016 TFNet conducted one workshop and seminar  in Malaysia. 
TFNet was also invited to various events organised by organizations and 
partners as resource person, presenter and participant. Participation in 
these events helped to showcase TFNet and its activities. The activities are 
shown in tables 2, 3, 4 and 5.

Date Title Venue TFNet Role Co-organizers
8-10 August 

2016
Workshop on 

Revitalizing the 
Malaysian Tropical Fruit 

Industry 

Langkawi, 
Malaysia 

Main 
organizer

Ministry of Agriculture 
and Agro-based Industry 

Malaysia

29 March 
2016

Seminar on Saba 
Banana 2016

 

Kota Merudu, 
Sabah, Malaysia

Co-organizer Farmer Organization 
Authority, University 

Malaysia Sabah (UMS)

Table 2: Workshops conducted in Malaysia by TFNet in 2015-2016

Date Title Venue Co-organizers
30 August 

-1 Sept 
2016

International Symposium 
on Tropical Fruits: 

Towards Sustainable Fruit 
Production and Global 

Food Security

Davao City, The 
Philippines

TFNet, Bureau of Plant Industry 
Philippines (BPI), Philippine Fruits 

Association

4-8 Sept 
2016 

 

Regional Workshop on the 
Control of Dragon fruit 

Diseases  

Mekong Institute 
Khon Kaen, 

Thailand

Food and Fertiliser Technology Center 
(FFTC), New Zealand Plant & Food 

Research, Mekong Institute Thailand

Table 3: International symposiums and workshops co-organized by TFNet (2015 – 
2016)

6. Events attended by TFNet

During the period 2015 – 2016, TFNet also participated in events conducted 
by member countries and international and regional partners (Table 6) as 
resource person, presenter or regular participant.
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Table 4: Events with participation from TFNet from 2015 – 2016  

Date Title Venue TFNet Role Co-
organizers

17  – 21  
August 
2015

30th Regular Meeting of 
CIRDAP Executive Committee 
(EC-30), 7th CIRDAP Regional 
Policy Dialogue (RPD-7) and 

20th Regular Meeting of 
CIRDAP Governing Council 

(GC-20) 

Nadi, Fiji CIRDAP Observer

19-23 
October 

2015

23rd National Fruit Symposium  Philippines Philippine Fruits 
Association (PFA) 

Participant

6-11 
November 

2015

International Society for 
Southeast Asian Agricultural 

Science (ISSAAS)  International 
Congress 2015, with the theme 

of "Agricultural Sciences for 
Sustainable Development"

Tokyo, Japan ISSAAS Paper 
Presenter

16-20 
November 

2015

Courtesy visit to Guangdong 
Academy of Agricultural 

Sciences

Guangzhou, 
PR of China

Guangdong Academy 
of Agricultural Sciences

Participant

29-30 
November 

2015

Seminar on Enhancing the 
Pineapple Industry in Sarawak 

Sarawak, 
Malaysia

The Malaysian 
Pineapple Industry 

Board

Presenter

2 – 6 
December 

2015

IGG on Citrus Intercessional 
Intercessional Meeting on 
Citrus Greening Disease 

(Huanglongbing) 

Guangzhou, 
PR of China 

Intergovernmental 
Group on Citrus Fruit 
(IGG/CI) supported 

by The Chinese 
Guangdong Academy 

of Agricultural Sciences

Resource 
Person

13 January 
2016

Courtesy visit to the office of 
Secretary General of Ministry 

of Agriculture and Agro-based 
Industry of Malaysia to greet 

the newly appointed Secretary 
General and Chairman of TFNet.

Malaysia Ministry of Agriculture 
and Agro-based 

Industry

2 – 6 
February 

2015

TFNet Agriculture Technology 
Acquisition In Thailand with The 

Selangor State Assemblyman 
Sg. Panjang Constitution.

Ban Piew, 
Sem Pran 

District and 
Bangkok, 
Thailand 

TFNet Facilitator

22 – 24 
February 

2016

Technical Discussion with 
Department of Agriculture 

Sabah on Banana

Sabah, 
Malaysia

Department of 
Agriculture Sabah

Meeting
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1-5 March 
2016

Collaboration with Naza 
Plantation Services Sdn. Bhd. on 
- Proposed Technology Transfer 

of MD2 from the Philippines 
to Malaysia, Field visit to 

plantation area in Davao and 
General Santos Philippines

Davao, 
Philippines

Naza Plantation 
Services Co.

Facilitator

7-11 March 
2016

33rd Food and Agriculture 
Organization (FAO) of the 
United Nations - Regional 

Conference for Asia and the 
Pacific (APRC)

Putrajaya, 
Malaysia

FAO Organized 
side event 
to launch 
GAPTROF 

14-18 
March 2016
 

CFFRC - University of Reading 
- Agri - Innovation Workshop 
2016 at Crops for the Future 

Research Center (CFFRC) 

Malaysia CFFRC Participant

23-25 April 
2016

Preliminary meeting with 
Bureau of Plant Industry 

(BPI) and Philippines Fruit 
Association (PFA) for organizing 
International Symposium and 
10th TFNet BOT Meeting in 

Manila, Philippines

Davao, The 
Philippines

BPI, PFA Co-
organizer

23-27 May 
2016

31st CIRDAP Technical 
Committee Meeting 

Kuala Lumpur CIRDAP Observer

30 May 
2016

Public Lecture at Faculty of 
Agriculture 

Universiti 
Putra 

Malaysia, 
Serdang

International Society 
for Southeast Asian 
Agricultural Science 

Participant

1 June 2016 Worskhop on Pre Rebranding 
Research for Selected Agency 
untder Ministry of Agriculture 

Malaysia. 

Royale Hotel 
Bintang, 

Seremban, 
Negeri 

Sembilan, 
Malaysia

Malaysian Agriculture 
Research and 

Development Institute 
(MARDI)

Resource 
person

28 June 
2016

Three meetings with Secretary 
General of Ministry of 

Agriculture and Agro-Based 
Industry of Malaysia for briefing 

on forthcoming events to be 
organized by TFNet, BPI and 
PFA in Davao, Philippines i.e. 
International Symposium on 

Tropical Fruits and TFNet Board 
of Trustees Meeting

Putrajaya, 
Malaysia

20 July 2016 Courtesy visit to FAO RAP office 
to discuss on Banana Foc TR4 

Project

Bangkok, 
Thailand
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21-23 July 
2016

Regional Workshop on 
Agribusiness PPP Program in 

Southeast Asia

Bangkok 
Thailand

FAO and AFMA Resource 
person

8-10 August 
2016

Revitalizing the Malaysian 
Tropical Fruit Industry:  

Enhancing Linkages among 
Small-scale Producers and 
Other Stake Holders in the 

Value Chain" with the support 
from the Ministry of Agriculture 

and Agro-based Industry 
Malaysia

Langkawi, 
Kedah, 

Malaysia

TFNet and MOA Facilitator

23-26 
August 
2016

10th BAPNET Steering 
Committee Meeting 

Yanling Hotel, 
Guangzhou, 
PR of China

Guangdong Academy 
of Agricultural Sciences 

(GDAAS)

Resource 
Person 

Staff Strength

As of 31 August 2016, there are seven (7) TFNet employees, comprising 
the following:
1. Chief Executive Officer
2. Technical officer (vacant)
3. Project Officer
4. Administrative/Financial Officer
5. Information Officer
6. IT Officer Personal Assistant
7. Driver
8. Casual Worker

6. Conclusion

TFNet was able to conduct activities that reflected the goal and objectives 
of the network during the period reported, even though it was running 
on a constrained budget. Visibility of the network has improved due to 
the activities conducted in member countries, joint collaborations with 
other networks and partners and improved information dissemination 
mechanism through the TFNet’s newsfeed. Activities related to income 
generation however, had not improved. 

Through a proposed strategic plan 2015 – 2020, and strong support from 
the host country, members and partners, it is hoped that the network 
will continue being relevant in its role as the only tropical fruit network, 
mandated to improve the global tropical fruit situation.
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
Statement of Financial Position 

as at 31 December 2015 
 
 Note 2015 2014 
  RM RM 
ASSETS    
Property, plant and equipment 4 26,451 12,672 

Current assets    
Other receivables 5 698,129 698,129 
Cash in hand and at bank  1,190,279 1,773,188 

  1,888,408 2,471,317 

Total Assets  1,914,859 2,483,989 

EQUITY AND LIABILITY    
Accumulated surplus  1,897,238 2,475,389 

  1,897,238 2,475,389 

Current Liability    
Other payables and accruals  17,621 8,600 

  17,621 8,600 

Total Equity and Liability  1,914,859 2,483,989 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6 
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
  2015 2014 
 Note RM RM 

OTHER INCOME    

Consultancy and professional fees  26,782 110,793
Discount received  424 521
Interest from foreign account  55,633 5,889
Interest received and receivables  36,974 55,298
Membership and registration fees  4,515 1,910
Miscellaneous income  3,584 - 
Seminar and exhibition  920 19,641

  128,832 194,052

EXPENDITURE    

Administrative costs 6 48,479 97,300
Advertising and promotion 7 1,959 14,440
Auditors' remuneration  5,500 5,000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  9,579 7,909
Staff costs 8 508,725 514,501
Workshop and seminar 9 - 14,274
Travelling and accomodation 10 132,741 110,249

  706,983 763,673

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR  (578,151) (569,621)
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7 
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
Statement of changes in equity 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 Accumulated 
 Surplus 
 RM 

Balance as at 31 December 2013 3,045,010 

Total comprehensive losses (569,621) 

Balance as at 31 December 2014 2,475,389 

Total comprehensive losses (578,151) 

Balance as at 31 December 2015 1,897,238 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
Statement of cash flow 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 2015 2014 

Note RM  RM 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Deficit of income over expenditure (578,151) (569,621)
Adjustment for:    

Depreciation 9,579 7,909
Interest income 36,974 (55,298)

Operating deficit before working capital charges (531,598) (617,010)
Changes in working capital:    

Increase in other payables 9,021 679
Cash used in operations activities (522,577) (616,331)

Interest received (36,974) 55,298

Net cash used in operating activities (559,551) (561,033)

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (23,358) (7,804)

Net cash used in investing activities (23,358) (7,804)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (582,909) (568,837)
Cash and cash equivalents bought forward 1,773,188 2,342,025

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 1,190,279 1,773,188

Cash and cash equivalents:    
Cash in hand 18,930 16,322
Cash at bank 295,895 268,386
Fixed deposits 875,454 1,488,480

 1,190,279 1,773,188
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
1. Principal activities  
 

International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) is an independent global network set up 
under the auspices of the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) of the United Nations 
and was declared as an International Organisation on 23 January 2003 through the 
gazetting of the International Tropical Fruits Network (Privileges and Immunities) 
Regulations 2003. It is both inter-governmental and inter-institutional in nature and reports 
its activities to the subgroups on tropical fruits of the FAO inter-governmental group on 
bananas and on tropical fruits. TFNet act as a network to promote the production, 
processing, marketing, consumption and international trade of tropical fruits. The 
objectives of TFNet are:- 

 
a) to systematically collect, analyse, document and disseminate information on 

production, processing, marketing, consumption and international trade of 
tropical fruits to all members;  

 
b) to promote, coordinate and support conservation of germplasm, research and 

development and transfer of technologies in production and post-harvest 
handling including downstream processing for industrial use;  

 
c) to facilitate the expansion of international trade of tropical fruits;  

 
d) to enhance human resource development in the tropical fruits sector;  

 
e) to organise generic market promotion in collaboration with exporters and 

importers aimed at strengthening customer knowledge of the nutritional value 
of tropical fruits;  

 
f) to monitor and evaluate the impact of international and regional agreements on 

production, marketing, consumption and international trade of tropical fruits; 
and  

 
g) to facilitate technical and economical cooperation in the tropical fruits sector in 

pursuance of sustainable production, strengthening of domestic market, 
poverty eradication and food security.  
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
2. Basis of preparation  
 
2.1 Compliance  
 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the 
provision of the International Tropical Fruits Network Regulations 2003 and Malaysian 
Private Entities and Reporting Standard  

 
2.2 Presentation Currency  
 

The currency expressed in the financial statements is in Ringgit Malaysia and the 
amounts are expressed in unit of Ringgit.  

 
 
2. Financial risk management policies  
 

The Organisation’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate 
financial resources are available for the development of the Organisation’s businesses 
whilst managing its risks. The Organisation operates within clearly defined guidelines that 
are approved by the Board and the Organisation’s policy is not to engage in speculative 
transactions. 

 
The main areas of financial risks faced by the Organisation and the policy in respect of the 
major areas of treasury activity are set out as follows: 

 
a. Foreign currency risk  

 
The Organisation is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of its normal trading 
activities, both external and intra-organisation where the currency denomination differs 
from the local currency, Ringgit Malaysia (RM). The Organisation’s policy is to 
minimise the exposure of overseas operating to transaction risk by matching local 
currency income against local currency costs.  

 
b. Liquidity and Cash Flow risks  

 
The Organisation seeks to achieve a balance between certainty of funding and a 
flexible, cost-effective borrowing structure. This is to ensure that at the minimum, all 
projected net borrowing needs are covered by committed facilities. Also, the objective 
for debt maturity is to ensure that the amount of debt maturing in any one year is not 
beyond the Organisation’s means to repay and refinance.  
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
3. Accounting policies  
 
3.1 Basis of accounting  
 

The financial statements of the Organisation have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention unless otherwise indicated.  

 
3.2 Property, plant and equipment  
 

Property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. All other property, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.  

 
Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method in order to write off the cost of each 
asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal rates used are as 
follows:-   
 % 
Computer equipment 33 
Furniture and fittings 20 
Office equipment 10 
Motor vehicle 20 

 
Property, plant and equipment are written down to recoverable amounts if, the recoverable 
amounts are less than their carrying values. Recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s net selling price and its value in use. 

 
3.3 Receivables  
 

Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off in the 
period in which they are identified. An allowance is made for doubtful debts based on a 
review of all outstanding amounts at the balance sheet date.  

 
3.4 Foreign currency transaction and balances  
 

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into Ringgit Malaysia at 
rates of exchange approximating those prevailing at the transaction dates.  

 
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency at balance sheet date are translated into 
Ringgit Malaysia at rates of exchange approximationg those ruling on that date.  

 
Exchange gains and losses are charged to the income statement.  
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
3. Accounting policies (cont’d)  
 
3.5 Cash flow statement  
 

The Organisation adopts the indirect method in the preparation of cash flow statement. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and fixed deposits.  
 
3.6 Impairment of assets  
 

The carrying amounts of assets, other than inventories, assets arising from construction 
contracts, deferred tax assets and financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and jointly controlled entity) are reviewed for impairment when there is an 
indication that the assets might be impaired. Impairment is measured by comparing the 
carrying values of the assets with their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use, which is measured by 
reference to discounted future cash flows. Recoverable amounts are estimated for 
individual asset, or if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit.  

 
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the income statement immediately, 
unless it reverses a previous revaluation, in which case it is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.  

 
Any subsequent increase in the recoverable amount of an asset is treated as reversal of 
the previous impairment loss and is recognised to the extent of the carrying amount of the 
asset that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised. The reversal is recognised in the income statement 
immediately, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount. A reversal of an impairment 
loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to revaluation surplus. To the extent that an 
impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in 
the income statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the 
income statement.  
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
3. Accounting policies (cont’d)  
 
3.7 Payables  
 

Payables are stated at cost which is the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and 
services rendered. 

 
3.8 Employee benefits  
 

Short Term Employee Benefits  
 

Wages, salaries and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Organisation. Short term 
accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when 
employees render services that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. 
Non-accumulating compensated absences, such as sick and medical leaves are recognised 
when the absences occur.  

 
The expected cost of accumulating compensated absences is measured as the additional 
amount expected to be paid as a result of the unused entitlements that have accumulated at 
the balance sheet date.  

 
Defined Contribution Plan  

 
Contributions to the Employees Provident Fund scheme are recognised as an expense in 
the income statement in the period to which they relate.  

 
3.9 Revenue recognition  
 

i. Grant received is recognised on receipt basis.  
 

ii. Members’ annual subscriptions and registration fees, fixed deposit interest and income 
from seminars, exhibitions and other activities are recognised on accrual basis.  

 
3.10 Financial instruments  
 

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and bank balances, fixed 
deposits, receivables and payables. The recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the 
respective accounting policy statements.  

 
3.11 Government grants  
 

Grants in recognition of specific expenses are taken to income over the period necessary to 
match them with related cost they are intended to compensate.  
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
4. Property, plant and equipment  
 

 Computer Furniture Office Motor Total 
 equipment and equipment vehicle  
  fittings    
 RM RM RM RM RM 
Cost      
Opening balance 185,499 43,842 91,056 77,474 397,871
Additions 9,564 5,818 - 7,976 23,358

Closing balance 195,063 49,660 91,056 85,450 421,229

Accumulated depreciation      
Opening balance 183,051 43,841 80,834 77,473 385,199
Charge for the year 4,338 291 - 4,950 9,579

Closing balance 187,389 44,132 80,834 82,423 394,778

Net book value      
At 31 December 2015 7,674 5,528 10,222 3,027 26,451

At 31 December 2014 2,448 1 10,222 1 12,672

Analysed as follows:-      

    2015 2014 
    RM RM 
At cost      
Computer equipment    195,063 185,499
Furniture and fitting    49,660 43,842
Office equipment    91,056 91,056
Motor vehicle    85,450 77,474

    421,229 397,871
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
5. Other receivables  

 2015 2014 
 RM RM 

Other debtors 1,027,657 1,027,657
Other debtors - Sales (329,558) (329,558)
Deposit - Post box rental 30 30

 698,129 698,129
 
 
 
6. Administrative costs   

 2015 2014 
 RM  RM 

Bank charges 242 263 
Books 136 6,368 
Car maintenance 1,128 2,078 
Computer maintenance 608 1,715 
Consumables 1,539 1,255 
Consultant fee - 3,200 
Domain name charges 50 50 
Honorarium 5,600 - 
Insurance premium 972 6,271 
Meeting package - 10,892 
Miscellaneous expenses 540 915 
Office maintenance 800 1,044 
Pasport renewal and visa 1,987 1,403 
Service charge 191 280 
Rental 30 30 
Petrol,parking & toll 4,113 4,349 
Web page package 250 250

Balance carried forward 18,186 40,363
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16 



50

International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
6. Administrative costs (cont’d)  
 

 2015 2014 
 RM RM 
Balance brought forward 18,186 40,363

Printing & Stationery 9,190 12,697
Telephone & fax charge 7,127 7,074
Registration fee 2,701 1,600
Wages 8,800 8,400
Sundry accounts 2,057 1,915
Postage & courier charge 418 2,078
Transportation - 23,173

 48,479 97,300
 
 
 
7. Advertising and promotion  
 

 2015 2014 
 RM RM 

Advertisement - 12,658
Souvenier 1,959 1,782

 1,959 14,440
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 

8. Staff costs   
  2015 2014 
  RM RM 

 Daily subsistence allowance 29,806 26,547 
 Entertainment allowances 15,000 37,283 
 EPF and SOCSO 35,818 48,548 
 Food and refreshments 6,930 12,478 
 Incentives 3,000 - 
 Meal allowances 140 730 
 Medical expenses 1,953 2,685 
 Overtime claim 2,151 2,750 
 Pension 2,194 - 
 Salaries and wages 401,033 376,130 
 Special allowance 10,700 7,200 
 Tips - 150 
  .  
  508,725 514,501 

 Number of employees at the end of the year 7 7 
 
 
 
9.  Workshop and seminar 
 

 2015 2014 
 RM RM 

Seminar bag - 1,050
Seminar package - 13,224

 - 14,274
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
10.  Travelling and accommodation 
 

 2015 2014 
 RM RM 

Accommodation 5,722 25,451
Airplane tickets 105,573 84,610
Extra luggage 2,297 -
Taxi fares 378 80
Travelling 411 108
Per diem 18,360 -

 132,741 110,249
 
 
 
11. Financial instruments  
 
11.1 Interest rate risk  
 

The risk will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates, and the effective 
weighted average interest rates on classes of financial assets are as follows:  

 
     Effective 
     interest 
 Less than 1 to 5 More than  rate during 
2015 1 year years 5 years Total the year 
Financial assets RM RM RM RM % 

Fixed deposits with 875,454 - - 875,454 40 : 60 
licensed banks       

2014       
Financial assets       

Fixed deposits with 1,488,480 - - 1,488,480 40 : 60 
licensed banks       

 
11.2 Credit Risk  
 

The maximum credit risk associated with recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount shown in the balance sheet.  
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International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
 
11. Financial instruments (cont’d)  
 
11.2 Credit Risk (cont’d)  
 

The Organisation has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single 
counterparty. In respect of investments in cash and hedging transactions, the policy is 
to transact with financial institutions that have at least a short term counterparty rate.  

 
At 31 December 2015, the Organisation has no significant credit risk associated with its 
exposure to potential counterparty for failure to settle outstanding foreign currency and 
interest rate hedge transactions.  

 
11.3 Fair Values  
 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets approximate their fair values due to the 
relatively short term maturity.  

 
 
12. Comparative information  
 
 

The comparative information of the Organisation were audited by a firm other than 
Adam & Co. 
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Annex 5
TFNet Strategic Plan (2015-2020)

THEME:

‘STRENGTHENING VALUE CHAINS, ENHANCING MARKETS, INCREASING 
PROFITABILITY OF FARMING ENTERPRISES AND PROMOTING BALANCED 
NUTRITION INTAKE FOR ALL’

TFNet’s new Strategic Plan covers the period 2015-2020. It presents 
TFNet’s overarching goals, objectives and areas of focus covering the 
main programmes that will guide the operations and how TFNet will 
deliver against the framework. TFNet will make a unique contribution to 
address food and nutritional security through information and knowledge, 
strengthening value chains, enhancing markets, increasing the profitability 
of farming enterprises and promoting balanced nutrition for all. 

TFNet aims to facilitate situational analysis in all member countries and 
work with them in response to persistent problems. This includes persistent 
rural poverty on a huge scale. TFNet with its strategic plans will address 
the need to step up production of tropical fruit significantly to provide 
the rural communities with proper methods to ensure sustainable tropical 
fruit production.  TFNet will be a platform where member countries will be 
able to accelerate their concerns with doable solutions through capacity 
building and consultancies. After 15 years of serving member countries in 
the agriculture and rural development sector, TFNet is well positioned to 
make a significant contribution to help transform or implement tropical 
fruit sectors in agriculture. Programme evaluations indicate that TFNet 
is one of the leading international organizations providing support for 
networking, knowledge sharing and capacity building for the tropical fruit 
sector.

While TFNet continues to work on tropical fruit programmes in its member 
countries, it has chosen to refocus many of its activities and priorities. As 
part of this process TFNet has developed a mid-term plan (2015 – 2017) to 
focus on activities as identified by TFNet in consultation with its partners 
and other stakeholders during the General Assembly held in August 2015 
in Sri Lanka. This will require a broad range of partners and researchers 
focusing on delivery and adoption of innovations to mitigate challenges 
faced by rural poor communities in growing tropical fruits alongside other 
crops.

A. WHO ARE WE  

Over the past 15 years, the International Tropical Fruit Network (TFNet) 
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as an international organization has played an immensely important 
role in forming linkages through collecting, exchanging, disseminating 
information and consultancies on global tropical fruit industry. The 
establishment of TFNet in 2000 reflects the importance of its functions 
under the auspices of the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) of the 
United Nations (UN). TFNet has an international focus, reporting to the 
Sub-Group on Tropical Fruits of the FAO Inter-governmental Group of 
Bananas and on Tropical Fruits. However, particular emphasis is given to 
production, consumption, logistics, market and trade development in the 
global tropical fruit sector.

TFNet is an expanding network with a total of 238 members comprising 
14 country members: Australia, Bangladesh, China, Fiji, India, Indonesia, 
Malaysia, Nigeria, Philippines, Saudi Arabia, Sudan, Sri Lanka, Syria, and  
Vietnam. It has 17 associate members composed of companies and 
organizations and 207 ordinary members.

TFNet provides a platform for countries and other members to share 
information and deliberate on issues that are important in the improvement 
of their tropical fruit industry covering the full spectrum of small farm 
needs, logistics and activities relevant to all global regions. The integrated 
technology approach is what makes TFNet a unique international centre.  

1.1.  Why tropical fruits are important

Tropical fruits are defined as fruits that are grown in hot and humid regions 
within the Tropic of Cancer and Tropic of Capricorn, covering most of 
the tropical and subtropical areas of Asia, Africa, Central America, South 
America, the Caribbean and Oceania.

Tropical fruits have always been part of the rural landscape of these 
regions, with the sole purpose of providing food and nutrition. Regular 
consumption of a variety of fruit is recommended by FAO and the World 
Health Organisation (WHO) for a well-balanced diet and for avoiding 
cardiovascular problems, diabetes and certain types of cancer. Fruits such 
as bananas, breadfruit and jackfruit have been used as staples in Asian, 
African and Asia Pacific countries, to complement other grain or root 
crops.

Due to the increasing demand over the years, some of the popular fruit 
types gradually developed from subsistence level to ones that can generate 
income. This includes the globally traded major tropical fruits such as 
bananas, mangoes, pineapples, avocadoes and papayas. Other fruits which 
are now grown commercially include guava, rambutan, durian, jackfruit, 
pitaya and passion fruit. Besides providing nutrition to farming families, 
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cultivating tropical fruits is an important income generating activity for 
them as it improves the local economy. Tropical fruits are inexpensive 
which makes it another export option for producers intending to diversify 
exports. There is already an uptrend in the demand for tropical fruits in 
domestic and export markets, especially from consuming countries such 
as USA, EU, Korea and Japan.

Banana is a major tropical fruit with a world production of 107 million 
tonnes in 2013. Out of this, 17 % was mostly traded by multinationals. 

Smallholders including farming families produce about 80 % of global 
tropical fruit. In 2014, world production of tropical fruit reached 82 million 
tons according to estimates by the United Nations’ Food and Agriculture 
Organization (FAO). Mango was the main fruit produced accounting for 
almost 40 % of total production followed by pineapple at 25 %, papaya at 
10 % and avocado 4 %. Other tropical fruits such as durian, rambutan, litchi, 
guava, and mangosteen make up the remaining 20 % of total tropical fruit 
production. Asia remains the main producer of tropical fruits, followed by 
Latin America, the Caribbean, Africa and Oceania. It is estimated that 90 % 
of the fruits produced are consumed domestically with only an estimated 
5 % traded as fresh fruits and another 5 % processed. Around 90% of 
tropical fruit are produced in developing countries. Value of tropical fruits 
produced is estimated to be USD 57.3 billion in 2012.

In most tropical fruit producing countries, farmers are now more 
commercial, growing more marketable fruit types rather than just for 
food. Processed products such as purees, chips, pickles, powder and dried 
fruits are also being produced to minimize wastage during seasonal glut. 
Tropical fruits provide nutrition for health and wellbeing as well as generate 
income for smallholders. Tropical fruit is in the forefront to compete with 
other fruit types, as the expanding number of middle class consumers 
tend to be more selective in their preference for exotic and tasty fruits.

Tropical fruits also play the important role of providing nutrition and 
balanced diet to curb obesity and other ailments. This is in line with the 
Millennium Development Goalsin mitigating hidden hunger. 

1.2.  Why TFNet needs to be recognised and supported as a 
leading network for improving and sustaining tropical fruits 
development in member countries

TFNet has been in operation for 15 years, and in a relatively short time has 
established itself as a network, capable of assisting member countries in 
their tropical fruit development, by conducting studies and consultancies, 
projects and capacity building activities. TFNet is able to carry these out 
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due to its ability to identify and engage experts in various agricultural 
fields. TFNet also builds on strong links with other networks and country 
members who do considerable research on tropical fruits. Examples of 
these countries are Australia, Bangladesh, China, Fiji, India, Indonesia, The 
Philippines, Malaysia, Nigeria, Vietnam, Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka, Sudan and 
Syria. 

Besides research, these countries are also involved in the production 
and trade of fruits, which entails the adoption of good agricultural 
practices to produce marketable, safe and high quality fruits. TFNet has 
the advantage of engaging these countries in the sharing of information 
and technologies.This strategic plan will chart the direction for TFNet to 
improve visibility and enhance credibility in conducting projects, studies 
and providing relevant information to members and stakeholders.

1.3. TFNet’s Vision

TFNet will be a leading global player in facilitating international cooperation 
in production, consumption, logistics, marketing and trade development 
in the global tropical fruit sector.  

1.4.  TFNet’s Mission

TFNet will cooperate among member countries to deliver innovations for 
tropical fruit industry with assets and services:

i. To scale up income for tropical fruits smallholders, by enhancing 
productivity and market access through improved technology and 
integration into the value chain.

ii. To increase the global demand, awareness and trade of tropical fruits 
through improved safety, quality and conformity practices.

iii. To promote tropical fruit consumption to tackle the issue of imbalanced 
diets which cause malnutrition and obesity, prevalent in farming and 
urban communities.

         

2. WHAT WE WILL DO – PROGRAMME AND FOCUS

2.3.  Key trends affecting the industry  

TFNet strategic direction will be based on typical issues and challenges in 
the global tropical fruit situation:
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• Most smallholder farmers lack the knowledge and skills to regularly 
produce quality and marketable fruits. Focus on pre and post-harvest 
studies and most importantly transfer of technology and capacity 
building for all participants in the supply chain, growers to retailers.

• Commercial fruit production and exports are normally run by big 
companies with smallholders involved only as producers at the 
upstream stage. There is lack of smallholders integration into the value 
chain.

• Development of tropical fruits production is constrained by the lack 
of technology, information and capacity for many countries. They also 
fail to carry out biosecurity measures and implement proper sanitary 
and phytosanitary requirements, resulting in pests and diseases being 
introduced or spread to other localities. 

• Lack of centralised information on tropical fruits specifically on market 
demand, trends and market access requirements. 

• The impacts of climate change show unpredictable harvests, increased 
incidences of pests and diseases, seasonal production variations and 
impact on market security and income.

• Postharvest losses along the value chain is still a persistent issue 
especially among smallholder farmers. 

 

2.4. Objectives

In this context, TFNet’s overarching goal is enabling smallholder farmers 
to improve their food security and nutrition, raise their incomes and 
strengthen the fruit industry. This is underpinned by six strategic objectives:

a. To systematically collect, analyse, document and disseminate 
information on     production, processing, marketing, consumption and 
international trade of tropical fruits.

b. To facilitate technical and economic cooperation in the tropical fruit 
sector in pursuance of sustainable production by strengthening of 
domestic and international markets, poverty eradication, food security 
and enhancing the knowledge of value addition and nutritive values of 
tropical fruits.

c. To facilitate the expansion of international trade of tropical fruits.

d. To promote, coordinate, support the conservation and use of germplasm, 
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research and development and transfer of technologies in production, 
postharvest handling and downstream processing for industrial use.

e. To enhance human resource development in the tropical fruit sector.

f. To expand membership of TFNet to include Caribbean countries, 
Europe, Latin America, more African and Asian countries, as well as 
private entities and individuals.

2.5. TFNet’s focus

TFNet has plans to carry out its activities in line with its objectives and 
mission with focus to:

a. Update information database and disseminate to members and 
stakeholders through the website and newsfeed.

b. Develop programmes with strategic partners to minimize the impact of 
pests and diseases to improve productivity and quality while providing 
better cultivars with higher productivity, better marketability, disease 
tolerant or resistant and adaptable to various environments.

c. Develop projects and capacity building programmes, especially the 
utilization of recent technologies which can reduce postharvest losses 
all along the chain by implementing Good Agricultural Practices in 
order to produce quality fruits to facilitate market access of fruits. This 
also includes the judicious use of chemicals to ensure the MRLs are 
within safe limits.

d. Integrate smallholders into the value chain to enhance economic 
returns and public private partnerships.

e. Familiarise fruit producers and stakeholders with plant biosecurity 
measures and Sanitary and Phytosanitary regulations. This is imperative, 
especially when there is a global effort to prevent diseases from 
spreading from one country to another. It is also important to manage 
endemic pests and diseases to keep them below the threshold level.  

f. Promote the consumption of tropical fruits to complement other 
fruit types for a more balanced and healthy diet. Some of the fruit 
species can also be termed as ‘superfruits’ due to the high content of 
antioxidants, vitamins and minerals. 

g. Encourage gender empowerment where women folk are given 
opportunities to actively participate in the value chain especially in 
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processing, fruit collecting and trade.

h. Promote and facilitate market access of tropical fruits to importing 
countries through participation in fruit exhibitions.

2.6. Main programmes

In order to achieve our mission, the thrusts of our cross cutting programmes 
will:

a. Promote cooperation and information sharing among members and 
other networks, especially that pertaining to transfer of technology, 
market access through the website and newsfeed.

b. Facilitate technical and economic cooperation in the tropical fruit sector 
in member and non-member countries in pursuance of sustainable 
production, strengthening of domestic and export markets, poverty 
reduction and food security and enhancing the knowledge of value 
addition and nutritive values of tropical fruits.

c. Build on developing and organizing capacity building programmes on 
tropical fruit industry such as workshops, symposiums, study tours and 
conferences for members.

d. Provide need based technical services and consultancies through 
engagement of experts within the network, in their respective fields.

3. HOW DO WE RESOURCE OUR ACTIVITIES

3.1.  Financial resources

a. Membership fees

Country members make a one off payment to register. There is also a 
payment of an annual membership fee from Country, Associate and 
Ordinary members.

b. Contributions from the Malaysian government

The host government currently contributes to support operations of the 
Secretariat in Malaysia.

c. Projects and consultancies 

TFNet seeks for funding for projects from funding agencies such as 
Common Fund for Commodities (CFC), Deutsche Gesellschaft für 
Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), FAO and other agencies. Funding 
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is normally sought for the implementation of projects related to specific 
issues in tropical fruit development.
 

3.2.  Partners

Financial resources are also shared among partners to implement a 
particular activity or project. Some of the partners are African - Asian 
Rural Development Organisation (AARDO), Centre on Integrated Rural 
Development for Asia and the Pacific (CIRDAP), Japan International Research 
Center for Agricultural Sciences (JIRCAS), CFC, Arab Organization for 
Agricultural Development (AOAD), FAO-Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Banana 
Research Network for Asia-Pacific (BAPNET) and Agricultural and Food 
Marketing Association for Asia and the Pacific (AFMA), potential partners 
are USAID, AusAid, International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) 
and Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research (ACIAR).
 

Annex 6
INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT

Introduction:

The Internal Auditor provides service to the Board of Trustees and 
Secretariat of International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet). The internal 
auditor is responsible for conducting an objective and independent 
appraisal of TFNets’ financial and operational activities. The Internal 
Auditor reports to the Board of Trustees and thereby provides an assurance 
on the arrangements for financial control and governance as well as other 
relevant information.

The scope of internal audit work should cover all operational and 
management controls and should not be restricted to financial statements. 
This does not imply that all systems will be subject to review, but that all 
will be included in the audit risk assessments and hence considered for 
review following the assessment of risk.  The Terms of Reference for the 
Internal Audit were ratified at the 7th Board of Trustees meeting in 2013 

The Internal auditors are Dr Badreldin Elshiekh M. Elhassan, Sudan and Mr 
Bob Williams, Australia. 

Audit Report for 2015/16:

The audit committee met with the CEO and the senior staff to perform the 
audit on 14-15 August 2016 in TFNet head office in Malaysia. The agenda 
for the audit was;
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Day 1.
 11:00  Introduction by new CEO Dr Mohd Desa Haji Hassim.
  Introduction of auditors
  Review of recommendations for Internal Audit report   
  2014/15
 11:30 Achievements against Strategic Plan Goals by Key activities

Day 2
 9:30 Corporate Issues
  Finance/Accounts
  Staffing
 13:00 Finish.

Audit Report:

1. Review of recommendations from Internal Audit report 2015
a. The Strategic Plan 2015-2020 was approved by the BOT in August 

and subsequently published and distributed to all members.
b. A mid-term plan 2015 – 2017 with a budget per activity was also 

included at the back of the Strategic Plan.  It was this document 
that the Audit Committee benchmarked the activities against of the 
Secretariat.

c.  It was strongly recommended that the CEO maintain linkages 
with the Malaysia Government and secure the financial support.  
However at the time of this audit, no financial had been provided.  
See Finances report. 

d. Membership.  At the BOT meeting in August, it was recommended 
that the annual membership fees be based at $2000.  It was also 
recommended TFNet provide evidence why countries should 
contribute these funds.   At the time of the audit only two countries 
had paid their subscriptions.  The audit committee commented on 
the manner in which this was requested from member countries 
ie an email requesting payment from the Chief Finance Officer – 
no invoice and no information on the services of TFNet.  The audit 
committee felt that this was not the responsibility of a staff member 
but the responsibility of the CEO to lead and drive.

e. A recommendation by the audit committee in 2014 was to conduct 
a risk assessment for each activity to avoid exposing TFNet.  At the 
time the secretariat had made an assessment of the potential risk 
and considered this to be low.  However this needs to be reviewed 
as evidenced by an unpaid invoice for RM 107,657.  (see financial 
report).  The CEO needs to take greater management of the finances 
and support his CFO with such issues and possibly in this case an 
improvement in the project contract documentation needs to be 
implemented.
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f. IT services have been improved.

2. Achievements against Strategic Plan Goals by Key activities.
a. Appendix I outlines the six goals and the activities aligned to these 

strategies as presented in the Strategic Plan.  It also presents the key 
activities flagged for 2015-17 from the mid-term Plan.

b. Following discussions with the CEO, the Project Officer and the 
Information Officer, there has been limited progress against the 
targeted activities over the past 12 months.  The secretariat discussed 
area of progress on some activities and some of these have been 
reported in the Newsletter. 

3. Financial/Accounts.
a. Again for the fourth year in a row, no funds were received from the 

Malaysian Ministry of Agriculture.
b. The Profit and Loss statements for the past three years are 

summarised as:

2015
RM

2014
RM

2013
RM

Income 40,300 194,052 300,361
Expenditure 697,052 763,673 868,786
Profit/Loss (655,831) (569,621) (568,425)

c. There has been no revenue from workshops or training events in the 
past 12 months.

d. The major expenditure items are salaries (RM 401,033) and travel 
associated costs (RM 159,459).

e. Based on the current expenditure against reserves, there are only 
sufficed funds for 14 months operating.

4. Additional comments.
a. From articles in the Newsletter and the travel expenses associated, 

the CEO has made many overseas trips.  This is important to build his 
network and relationships; however there is no evidence of outcomes 
in terms of increased membership, consultancies/workshops and 
building TFNet capacity. There has only been one workshop held 
over the past 12 months.

b. The BOT 2015 meeting was held in August, the minutes from this 
meeting was supplied to members some six months later.  This 
needs to be improved.

c. The status of the finances is placing considerable personal stress on 
the staff (CFO, Information Officer and Project Officer), with moral 
very low. 

d. A full time IT person has been appointed in front of a Technical 
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Officer.  It had been recommended that the IT person should only 
have been a short term consultancy, whereas the Technical Officer 
would be able to attract consultancies and develop workshops and 
training programs.

e. The majority of the comments made above were discussed with the 
CEO. Prior to departing from Malaysia.

Recommendations: 

1. A resolution with the Ministry of Agriculture funding needs immediate 
attention.  The BOT needs to consider the long term relationship and if 
alternative countries would be prepared to host TFNet.

2. Irrespective of the funding becoming available, there needs to closer 
management by the BOT of the Secretariat.  It is recommended that 
based on a similar template of Appendix I, the CEO provide a report 
each quarter to a subcommittee of the BOT.  Outside of the activities 
against the Strategic Plan, there needs to a quarterly report on the 
corporate issues such as the financial status of the business. (This has 
been discussed with the CEO).

3. The BOT needs to encourage and support the CEO in taking a greater 
leadership role in supporting the Secretariat.

4. Options on how to provide technical support to the CEO needs 
immediate attention.  This could be the engagement of a full time 
position, or until the financial position improves, engagement of short 
term consultants, on a full cost recovery, for specific tasks, maybe 
needed.

5. Membership.  The BOT needs to review their decision about membership 
fees.

6. Corporate Risk:  The audit committee strongly recommends the 
implementation of a Corporate Risk Register, and specifically project/
consultancy contracts.

The audit committee would like to thank the Secretariat for taking their 
weekend time to assist in the review.
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Annex 7
ISSUES IN THE TROPICAL FRUIT INDUSTRY

Most tropical fruits are produced in developing countries for income 
generation and food security. However, the different issues and challenges 
faced by the industry constrain production and trade. These issues start 
from the farm and is present in all parts of the supply chain.

For the last few years, the International Tropical Fruits Network (TFNet) 
has provided a platform for its 14 member countries to discuss issues 
affecting the tropical fruit industry and encourage projects that address 
these issues.

We hope this understanding of issues can assist in:
i. Formulating projects in member countries in developing their tropical 

fruit industry
ii. Facilitate member countries to exchange expertise, technologies and 

information related to tropical fruit development
iii. Formulate capacity building programmes for member countries

During the 6th Session of TFNet General Assembly held Colombo, Sri 
Lanka on 5-6 August 2015, country members discussed the issues they 
are facing for that year. For Agenda Item 7.0, kindly fill out the tables 
below with information on the current status of the issue: Discuss whether 
the issues still persist and the actions the industry has taken over the past 
year.

Issues and Challenges Details (2015) Current Status
1 Quality planting 

materials
a. Require to introduce 
certification system
b. Human resources development

Started seed certification system 
and quality pplanting materials 
provided

2 Lack of Research and 
Development

a.  Strengthening fruit research
b.  Government Intervention

Strengthen research institutes

3 Marketing and 
postharvest 
management

a.  Create market to farm linkage
b.  Minimize postharvest loss
c.  Packaging technologies

Training programs for growers: 
mango postharvest management. 
Lack of marketing and 
postharvest. 30-40% losses in 
fruits

4 Organize production 
technology

a.  More training to farmers
b.  Create fruit production zone

Agriculture information service 
disseminates programs to farmers 
about production tech

5 Value chain 
development

Need investment from private 
sector & donor agencies

Influence private sector to 
develop the chain.

Bangladesh
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6 Fair prices for small 
holders

Monitoring & supervision from 
government

Agriculture marketing supervises 
the market price

7 For export - 
phytosanitary issues

Awareness for exporters and 
farmers

Plant quarantine wing export and 
awareness

8 Awareness building for 
nutrition

Fruit production & distribution 
should be given emphasis

Training programmes: awareness 
on nutrition

Issues and Challenges Details (2015) Current Status
1 Diseases problem in 

banana - Fusarium Wilt
a. Require training on SOP to 
manage disease. 
b. Training to produce tissue 
cultured planting materials.

Three tissue culture labs. Regional 
office, national government, 
private enterprise: banana and 
ginger
Training provided by regional 
offices
Banana research and dev 
program natl horticulture 
research

2 Papaya National seed production for 
papaya: PPP. No seeds outside 
allowed

3 Value addition For fruits in season, address glut
4 Postharvest handling a. Papaya

b. banana

5 More commercial 
production of exotic 
and local fruits

for native fruits as well

6 Improve genetic lines 
of fruit

Work with other countries

7 Good quality planting 
materials

a. accreditation of nurseries
b. training
c. suggestion from PH: Work with 

the different agencies in your 
country to avoid duplication of 
projects

Fiji

Issues and Challenges Details (2015) Current Status
1 Quarantine. SPS 

requirement from 
other countries 
a. Treatment for 
irradiation - no 
available equipment 
b. MRL issues

a. Procurement of equipment to 
undertake the treatment. 
b. Training of personnel / growers 
/ farmers.

Lack of irradiation equipment
Food safety act being 
implemented

Philippines
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2 Domestic and 
international 
movement of fruits 
Mango - Mango pulp 
weevil

a.  Strengthening fruit research
b.  Government Intervention

Strengthen research institutes

3 Marketing and 
postharvest 
management

a. Restriction of movement 
outside of Palawan. 
b. Low monitoring surveys - fund 
source for these activities. 
c. Require training for plant 
quarantine personnel.

Working with LGUs to stop pulp 
weevil from going out of Palawan
Control and mitigation measures

4 Disease problems 
on mangosteen and 
Lazones Aspediotus 
rigidus – mangosteen 
A. unaspis “mabilis” - 
lanzones

a. Information dissemination. 
b. Training of rearing of bio 
control agents. 
c. Release of bio control agents 
(beetles, lacewing) to farmers’ 
fields.

Technology demos are done, 
hopefully to be adopted by 
farmers

5 Mango - Cicid Fly a. Information dissemination – 
flyleaf 
b. Training of personnel / grovers 
/ farmers

Control measures are present, 
capacity building being added

6 Fusarium Wilt Working with multinationals 
and farmers concurrently. PPPs 
have been established: R&D, 
goos planting materials, varietal 
improvement

7 Policy Issues: 
Procurement of quality 
planting materials for 
mass planting of fruits 
and plantation crops

Implementation of R.A. 7308 
a. Registration of improved variety 
b. Accrediation of Plant Nursery 
c. Certification of Plant Materials

Provision of good planting 
materials
Promoting the private sector to 
use good varieties
Certification programmes for 
nurseries

Annex 8
BUREAU OFFICER REPORT TEMPLATE FOR ENHANCING 
INFORMATION DATABASES OF TROPICAL FRUITS

The tropical fruit industry is an important sector for developing countries, 
generating income and employment, providing valuable products for trade, 
and offering relatively cheap sources of nutrients. About 98% of tropical 
fruits are grown in developing countries but through improvements in 
production, processing, and logistics, fruits like mango, papaya, banana, 
pineapple, rambutan, durian, mangosteen, dragonfruit, jackfruit, and 
guava are now available around the world. 

Although tropical fruits are increasingly becoming ubiquitous, some 
still regard it as exotic. This can be attributed to the lack of consumer 
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awareness. Enterprising businessmen have exploited this by developing 
so-called “superfood” products that promise help benefits. However, 
scientists have argued that these claims are unfounded and further studies 
are needed.

However, bulk of tropical fruit information needed to improve the 
knowledge base on tropical fruits remain on the local level: national 
agriculture ministries and agencies, the academe, and the private sector. In 
order for the industry to move forward, countries should share information. 
In terms of agronomy practices, most information available were written 
in the 1950s-1970s. Production has advanced differently for different 
countries but have not been properly reported. Research and development 
on tropical fruits are also scattered in different publications and journals, 
but are not easily accessible for public use.

For agriculture statistics like production, yield, and trade, most of the 
information available in the internet are only for the major fruits: banana, 
pineapple, papaya, avocado, watermelon, and mango. Statistics on minor 
fruits such as mangosteen, rambutan, jackfruit, durian, dragonfruit, and 
salak are difficult to acquire. 

The International Tropical Fruits Network has developed a database 
on tropical fruits available in its website (www.itfnet.org). However, the 
database is very out of date and lacks information for each member 
country. In 2013, TFNet proposed its country members to appoint Bureau 
Officers who are responsible in sharing information and communicating 
activities.

Objectives

This Bureau Officer Report aims to enrich the information in the TFNet 
website. Specifically, it aims to:
1. Identify the tropical fruits produced, imported, and exported by the 

country, including statistics;
2. Identify the best fruit varieties in their country, including nutritional 

information, agronomy, postharvest, and product development;
3. Enumerate and discuss current issues for each fruit;
4. Discuss consumer preferences; and
5. Identify the notable traders, importers, and exporters of tropical fruit 

and fruit products in their country. 
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Fruit Top Varieties/ 
Cultivars

Produced?
(Y/N)

Exported?
(Y/N)

Imported?
(Y/N)

Fruit A Variety 1 Y Y N
Variety 2 Y Y Y

Fruit B Variety 1 N N Y
Variety 2 N Y Y

etc

Basic information and statistics

Table 1. Tropical fruits consumed in (your country).

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 2. Production (in tonnes) 

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 3. Production area (ha) 

Source:

Source:
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Fruit Variety Coun-
try of 
Origin

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Fruit A Variety 
1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 4. Imports (in tonnes)

Source:

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 5. Import prices (in USD/tonnes)

Source:

Fruit Variety Coun-
try of 
Origin

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Fruit A Variety 
1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 6. Exports (in tonnes)

Source:



71

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 7. Export prices (in USD/tonnes)

Source:

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 8. Ex-farm prices (in USD/kg)

Source:

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 9. Wholesale prices (in USD/kg)

Source:



72

Fruit Variety 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Fruit A Variety 

1
Variety 
2

Fruit B Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 10. Retail prices (in USD/kg)

Source:

Nutritional Information

Fruit Variety Calories Carbohydrates (g) Fats (g) Pro-
tein 
(g)

From 
carbo-
rhy-

drates

From 
fat

From 
pro-
tein

Di-
etary 
Fiber

Starch Sugars Total 
Fat

Ome-
ga 3 
fatty 
acids

Ome-
ga 6 
fatty 
acids

Fruit A Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Fruit Variety Vitamins
A B1 B2 B3 B5 B6 B7 B9 B12 C D E K

Fruit A Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Fruit Variety MInerals
Cal-
cium

Iron Mag-
nesium

Phos-
phorus

Potas-
sium

So-
dium

Zinc Copper Manga-
nese

Fruit A Variety 
1
Variety 
2

etc

Table 12.1. Calories, carbohydrates, fats and protein content

Table 12.2. Vitamin content

Table 12.3. Mineral content
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Table 13. Extra nutritional content

Fruit Variety Extra-nutritional compounds Content
Fruit 1 Variety 1

Variety 2
etc

Table 13. Extra nutritional content

Fruit Variety Extra-nutritional compounds Content
Fruit 1 Variety 1

Variety 2
etc

Harvest Cycles

Fruit Vari-
ety

Month
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Fruit 
A

Vari-
ety 1
Vari-
ety 2

etc

Table 11. Harvest cycle of fruits

VI. Varietal Improvement

FRUIT 1 (Kindly fill out the information for all fruit types/varieties in your 
country)

A. Breeding
 (Please enumerate and discuss the breeding programmes being 

implemented in your country to improve fruit quality) 

B. Biotechnology
 (Please enumerate and discuss the biotechnology programmes being 

implemented in your country to improve fruit quality) 

VII. Basic Agronomy

FRUIT 1 (Kindly fill out the information for all fruit types/varieties in your 
country)
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A. Propagation methods

a. Kindly discuss the recommended propagation methods for each 
fruit in your country

b. Kindly discuss the recommended propagation methods for each 
fruit in your country

c. Kindly discuss the recommended propagation methods for each 
fruit in your country

B. Cultivation

a. Planting System 
 Discuss the recommended planting system in your country, including 

the number of planting materials per hectare and the recommended 
spacing

b. Intercropping
 Discuss the recommended intercrops and their benefits

c. Irrigation
 Discuss the recommended irrigation methods and the water 

requirements

d. Fertilization
 Discuss the recommended fertilizer for each plant stage, including 

the time and modes of application

e. Pruning
 Discuss the recommended pruning techniques

C. Flowering
 Discuss the time of flowering, pollination, and fruit set, including 

relevant technologies.

D. Fruiting
 Discuss fruit growth and development, including techniques to 

minimize fruit drop and prevent malformation.

VIII. Pest and Diseases

FRUIT 1 (Kindly fill out the information for all fruit types/varieties in your 
country)

A. Pests (Enumerate  the most common pests)
a. Pest name (Scientific name)
 (Kindly describe the pest, its negative effects on the plant and fruits, 
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and the recommended methods of control)
b. Pest name (Scientific name)

B. Diseases (Enumerate  the most common diseases)

a. Disease name, Causing agent (Scientific name)
(Kindly describe the disease, its causal agent, how disease outbreaks 

spread, its effects on the plant and fruits, and recommended 
methods of control)

b. Disease name, Causing agent (Scientific name)

C. Physiological Disorders (Enumerate  the most common disorders)
a. Disorder name
 (Kindly explain the cause, its effects on the plant and fruits, and 

mitigation measures)
b. Disorder name

IX. Postharvest 

FRUIT 1 (Kindly fill out the information for all fruit types/varieties in your 
country)

A. Grading
 (Please discuss how the fruit is graded in your country)
B. Packaging 
 (Please discuss the common packaging used in your country for the 

different transportation modes)
C. Ripening
 (Please discuss the recommended ripening methods in your country)
D. Storage
 (Please discuss the different methods of storage used by your country 

for different markets)
E. Transportation
 (Please discuss the common modes of transporting fruits in your 

country)
F. Phytosanitary requirements 
 (For the fruits that your country exports, please discuss the phytosanitary 

requirements implemented by importing countries) 

X. Product development

FRUIT 1 (Please enumerate and describe the innovative and traditional 
uses of fruits in your country. Indicate whether the product is for local 
markets or for export)
A. Product 1
B. Product 2
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XI. Policy Interventions

Please discuss the policies that your country have that improve the industry, 
such as institutional building, access to credit, formation of legal entities, 
development of quality standards, and technology improvements.

XII. List of fruit traders

Please attach a list of notable fruit importers and exporters in your country, 
including the following information:

- Company name
- Type of fruit products
- Address
- Contact person and position
- Telephone number
- Fax number
- Email address
- Website 

XIII. List of experts

Please attach a list of notable fruit experts in your country, including the 
following information:

- Name
- Institution/Agency/University
- Designation
- Expertise
- Telephone number
- Fax number
- Email address
- Website 

Annex 9
New TFNet Members

The following members were endorsed and accepted during the  
Board of Trustees Session:

Associate Members
1. Naza Group of Companies, Malaysia
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Ordinary Members:

1. Dr. Louella M. Cabahug, Professor, Central Mindanao University, 
University Town Muscuan Bukidnon Philippines

2. Rogelio J. Saniel, President, Saniel Intergrated Farm Sandal, San Isidro 
mahayag Zamboanga del Sur, Philippines

3. Dr. Marilyn E Romaquin, Philippine Fruits Association, Inc. / Aklan State 
University Banga Aklan Philippines

4. Matilde Q. Gumtang, Agriculturist, Bureau of Plant Industry (BPI) Baguio, 
Philippines

5. Dr. Emma Ruth V. Bayogan, Professor, University of the Philippines, 
Mindanao, Mintal Tugbok District, Davao City Davao del Sur, Philippines

6. Dr. Arturo M. Alegado, Dean, Bataan Peninsula State University, 
Philippines

7. Dr. Juliet M. Ochasan, Asst. Center Chief, Bureat of Plant Industry (BPI) 
8. Dr. Danilo P. Padua, College of Agriculture, Benguet State University, La 

Trinindad, Benguet Philippines
9. Rogelio G. Custodio, Agriculturist, Bureau of Plant Industry (BPI) Baguio, 

Philippines
10. Nancy T. Aspuria, Senior Agriculturist, Bureau of Plant Industry (BPI) 

Baguio, Philippines
11. Raymundo Julius G. Rosales, Instructor, Mariano Marcos State 

University, Tabug Batac City Ilocos Norte Philippines
12. Bielmaju A. Waley, MD, Municipal Health Officer/Manager, Muwayan 

Farms and Nursery, Adams, Ilocos Norte Pihilippines
13. Maritess A. Alimurung, Agriculturist, Bureau of Plant Industry (BPI) 

Baguio, Philippines
14. Franklin G. Bawang, Assistant Professor, Benguet State University, 

Philippines
15. Dr. Siti Khairunniza, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia
16. Sai Phyo Lwin Oo, Managing Director, SPSH & Associates Co., Ltd., 

Myanmar
17. Fredisminda M. Dolojan, Research Director, Quirino State University, 

Philippines
18. Jorge H. Disuanco, President, MacNut (Phils) Inc., Philippines
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